
 
 
A meeting of the CABINET will be held in CIVIC SUITE 0.1A, 
PATHFINDER HOUSE, ST MARY'S STREET, HUNTINGDON, PE29 
3TN on THURSDAY, 24 OCTOBER 2019 at 7:00 PM and you are 
requested to attend for the transaction of the following business:- 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
APOLOGIES 
 

1. MINUTES (Pages 3 - 8) 
 

To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meetings held on 19th 
September and 8th October 2019. 

 
Contact Officer: H Peacey - (01480) 388007 
 

2. MEMBERS' INTERESTS  
 

To receive from Members declarations as to disclosable pecuniary and other 
interests in relation to any Agenda item. 

 
Contact Officer: Democratic Services - (01480) 388169 
 

3. ENGLAND'S ECONOMIC HEARTLANDS - OUTLINE TRANSPORT STRATEGY 
: FRAMEWORK FOR ENGAGEMENT (Pages 9 - 26) 

 
To receive a report by the Planning Service Manager (Growth) on England’s 
Economic Heartlands Outline Transport Strategy: Framework for Engagement. 
 
Executive Councillor: R Fuller. 

 
Contact Officer: C Kerr - (01480) 388430 
 

4. FINAL REPORT OF THE ACCELERATING THE DELIVERY OF AFFORDABLE 
HOUSING TASK AND FINISH GROUP (Pages 27 - 34) 

 
To receive a report from the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Performance and 
Growth). 
 
Councillor S Corney to present. 

 
Contact Officer: A Green - (01480) 388008 
 



5. LIFELONG HEALTH TASK AND FINISH GROUP - PART ONE FINAL REPORT 
(Pages 35 - 42) 

 
To receive a report from the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Customer and 
Partnerships). 
  
Councillor Mrs S Smith to present. 

 
Contact Officer: A Green - (01480) 388008 
 

16 day of October 2019 

 
Head of Paid Service 
 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Non-Statutory Disclosable Interests 
 
Further information on Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Non - Statutory 
Disclosable Interests is available in the Council’s Constitution 
 
Filming, Photography and Recording at Council Meetings 
 
The District Council permits filming, recording and the taking of photographs at its 
meetings that are open to the public. It also welcomes the use of social networking 
and micro-blogging websites (such as Twitter and Facebook) to communicate with 
people about what is happening at meetings. 
 
Arrangements for these activities should operate in accordance with guidelines 
agreed by the Council.  
 

Please contact Mrs Habbiba Peacey, Democratic Services Officer, Tel No: 
01480 388169 / e-mail: Habbiba.Peacey@huntingdonshire.gov.uk  if you have 
a general query on any Agenda Item, wish to tender your apologies for 
absence from the meeting, or would like information on any decision taken 
by the Cabinet. 

Specific enquiries with regard to items on the Agenda should be directed towards 
the Contact Officer. 

Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting as observers except 
during consideration of confidential or exempt items of business. 

 
Agenda and enclosures can be viewed on the District Council’s website. 
 

Emergency Procedure 
 

In the event of the fire alarm being sounded and on the instruction of the Meeting 
Administrator, all attendees are requested to vacate the building via the closest 

emergency exit. 

https://www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/media/3744/constitution.pdf
https://www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/media/3744/constitution.pdf
https://www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/media/1365/filming-photography-and-recording-at-council-meetings.pdf
http://applications.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/moderngov/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

 
MINUTES of the meeting of the CABINET held in the MEETING ROOMS 0.1A 
AND 0.1B, Pathfinder House, St Mary's Street, Huntingdon, PE29 3TN on 
Thursday, 19 September 2019 
 
PRESENT:  Councillor G J Bull – Chairman. 
 

Councillors Mrs M L Beuttell, R Fuller, J A Gray, J M Palmer 
and D M Tysoe. 

 
IN ATTENDANCE: Councillors D Keane and J Neish. 
 
 

26 MINUTES  
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 18th July 2019 were approved as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

27 MEMBERS' INTERESTS  
 
No declarations were received. 
 

28 INTEGRATED PERFORMANCE REPORT, 2019/20 QUARTER 1  
 
With the aid of a report by the Corporate Team Manager and Finance Manager 
(a copy of which is appended in the Minute Book) the Cabinet were presented 
with details of the delivery of the Key Actions and Corporate Indicators listed in 
the Council’s Corporate Plan 2018/22. The report also incorporated progress on 
the current projects being undertaken at the Council and financial performance 
information at the end of June 2019. 
 
The Cabinet received responses to questions which had been raised concerning 
delays in the delivery of a number of projects in particular those that had been 
rated red and amber. The Finance Manager then went on to explain the financial 
outturn position at the end of quarter 1 where it was noted that an underspend of 
£0.438m had been achieved. Having considered the comments of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel (Performance and Growth), the Cabinet 
 
RESOLVED 
 

a) to note the progress made against Key Activities and Corporate 
Indicators in the Corporate Plan and current projects, as summarised 
in Appendix A and detailed in Appendices B and C of the report now 
submitted; and 
 

b) to note the Council’s financial performance at the end of June 2019, as 
detailed in Appendix D and the register of reviews of Commercial 
Investment Strategy propositions as detailed in Appendix E of the 
report now submitted. 

 

Page 3 of 42

Agenda Item 1



 

29 APPROVAL OF UPDATED NEIGHBOURHOOD AND COMMUNITY 
PLANNING GUIDE  
 
Consideration was given to a report by the Planning Service Manager (Growth) 
(a copy of which is appended in the Minute Book) setting out the background to 
the updates in the Neighbourhood and Community Planning Guide which had 
been introduced as part of the Localism Act 2011. The Guide had been updated 
owing to the adoption of the Huntingdonshire Local Plan to 2036 and provided an 
opportunity to reflect on how it worked with the Town and Parishes within the 
District.  
 
In receiving the comments of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Performance and 
Growth), the Cabinet 
 
RESOLVED 
 
 to endorse the updated Neighbourhood and Community Planning Guide, 

as attached as Appendix 1 of the report now submitted, for publication. 
 

30 CAMBRIDGESHIRE AND PETERBOROUGH COMBINED AUTHORITY 
DRAFT LOCAL TRANSPORT PLAN  
 
A report by the Planning Service Manager (Growth) was submitted (a copy of 
which is appended in the Minute Book) providing an outline of the draft Local 
Transport Plan (LTP), the specific projects and proposals relevant to 
Huntingdonshire and a draft consultation response to the LTP for approval by the 
Council. 
 
In introducing the item, the Planning Service Manager (Growth) explained that 
the draft LTP had been produced in partnership with authorities within the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority Area and that the 
consultation had been launched on 17 June closing on 27 September 2019. 
Attention was drawn to the three key goals of the LTP together with the 
supporting objectives and the priority schemes identified in Huntingdonshire.  
 
The Cabinet discussed the latest position with land value capture taxes, the 
discussions held by the Leader and Deputy Executive Leader with the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority and the need for 
improvements/projects to be identified in and around the market town of 
Ramsey. In response to questions, the Planning Service Manager (Growth) 
reported that she expected some form of response back from the Combined 
Authority to the Council’s response. In noting the views of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel (Performance and Growth), it was  
 
RESOLVED 
 

 that delegated authority to submit the Council’s final consultation 
comments on the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority 
Draft Local Transport Plan be given to the Service Manager (Growth), in 
consultation with the Executive Leader and Deputy Executive Leader. 

 

Page 4 of 42



 

31 HINCHINGBROOKE COUNTRY PARK JOINT GROUP  
 
In noting the vacant post on the Hinchingbrooke Country Park Joint Group 
following the resignation of former Councillor D R Underwood, it was 
 
RESOLVED 
 

that Councillor Mrs S R Wilson be appointed on to the Hinchingbrooke 
Country Park Joint Group for the remainder of the Municipal Year. 

 

 
Chairman 

 
 

Page 5 of 42



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

 
MINUTES of the meeting of the CABINET held in Meeting Rooms 0.1A and 0.1B, 
Ground Floor, Pathfinder House, St Mary's Street, Huntingdon, PE29 3TN on 
Tuesday, 8 October 2019 
 
PRESENT:  Councillor G J Bull – Chairman. 
 

Councillors Mrs M L Beuttell, R Fuller, J A Gray, J M Palmer 
and D M Tysoe. 

 
IN ATTENDANCE: Councillors D Keane and J Neish. 
 
 

32 MEMBERS' INTERESTS  
 
No declarations were received. 
 

33 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
RESOLVED 
 
 that the press and public be excluded from the meeting because the 

business to be transacted contains information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding 
that information). 

 
34 ONE LEISURE SAWTRY - FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTION TO TRANSFERRING 

THE OPERATIONAL MANAGEMENT TO CAMBRIDGE MERIDIAN ACADEMY 
TRUST  
 
The Cabinet gave consideration to a report prepared by the Head of Leisure and 
Health (a copy of which is appended in the Annex to the Minute Book) seeking a 
financial contribution towards the transfer of the operational management of One 
Leisure, Sawtry to Cambridge Meridian Academy Trust. 
 
The Head of Leisure and Health acquainted the Cabinet with the latest 
developments. Following debate on the matter and having concurred with the 
comments of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Customers and Partnerships), it 
was 
 
RESOLVED 
 

that, subject to the insertion of the words “Delegated authority be given to 
the Head of Leisure and Health, in consultation with the Executive 
Councillor for Partnerships and Well-Being and the Executive Leader” at 
the beginning of the recommendation, the recommendation contained 
within the exempt report now submitted be approved. 

 

Page 7 of 42



 

 
Chairman 

 
 

Page 8 of 42



 
 

HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 

Title/Subject Matter:  England’s Economic Heartlands - Outline 
Transport Strategy: Framework for Engagement 

 
Meeting/Date:  Cabinet – 24th October 2019 
 
Executive Portfolio:  Executive Councillor for Housing, Planning and 

Economic Development 
 
Report by:   Planning Service Manager – Growth  
 
Ward(s) affected:  All 

 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
England’s Economic Heartlands was established to engage authorities 
impacted by the Oxford – Milton Keynes – Cambridge Arc. The Economic 
Heartland region covers Swindon, Oxfordshire, Buckinghamshire, Milton 
Keynes, Northamptonshire, Central Bedfordshire, Bedford, Luton, Hertfordshire, 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough.   The organisation is the sub-national 
transport body for this region and received financial backing from the 
Department for Transport to advance an ambitious programme of work, 
including the development of an overarching transport strategy and work to 
identify and define a major road network across the arc. 
 
England’s Economic Heartlands (EEH) are currently consulting on the Outline 
Transport Strategy: Framework for Engagement which runs until 6pm 31 
October 2019 and can be found on England’s Economic Heartlands webpages. 
The Framework for Engagement sets out the challenges and opportunities 
faced by the region and to achieve growth and  zero carbon transport system by 
2050.The views received and currently commissioned technical work will be 
used to develop a draft transport strategy which will be the subject of formal 
consultation in the first half of 2020. 
 
This report provides an outline of the Outline Transport Strategy: Framework for 
Engagement (FfE) its aims and objectives and a draft consultation response on 
issues that affect the Huntingdonshire District Area, its corporate priorities and 
objectives. 

 
Recommendation: 
The Cabinet is recommended to provide comments on this consultation and 
delegate authority to submit the Council’s final consultation comments on this 
consultation to the Planning Service Manager - Growth, in consultation with the 
Executive Leader and Deputy Executive Leader. 
 

Public 

Key Decision - Yes 

Page 9 of 42

Agenda Item 3

http://www.englandseconomicheartland.com/Pages/outline-transport-strategy.aspx


 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 This report provides an outline of the Outline Transport Strategy: 

Framework for Engagement (FfE) its aims and objectives and a draft 
consultation response on issues that affect the Huntingdonshire District 
Area, its corporate priorities and objectives for approval by the Council. 

 
2. WHY IS THIS REPORT NECESSARY/BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 England’s Economic Heartlands was established to engage authorities 

impacted by the Oxford – Milton Keynes – Cambridge Arc. The Economic 
Heartland region covers Swindon, Oxfordshire, Buckinghamshire, Milton 
Keynes, Northamptonshire, Central Bedfordshire, Bedford, Luton, 
Hertfordshire, Cambridgeshire and Peterborough.   The organisation is 
the sub-national transport body for this region and received financial 
backing from the Department for Transport to advance an ambitious 
programme of work, including the development of an overarching 
transport strategy and work to identify and define a major road network 
across the arc. 
 

2.2 Organisationally the aim of EEH is to “address identified barriers to 
economic activity (both existing and planned growth) and raise 
productivity to match, and where possible exceed, that of our global 
competitors. To achieve this [they] need to 

 Strip away duplication, remove inefficiencies, and enable faster, 
more agile decisions. 

 Simplify funding streams wherever possible so that the time (and 
cost) taken to develop proposals and get them delivered on the 
ground is reduced. 

 Provide greater certainty for private sector investors thereby 
encouraging them to commit sooner to investments with greater 
confidence.” 

 
2.3 Another important goal for England’s Economic Heartlands is to submit a 

proposal to establish a statutory Sub-national Transport Body with 
powers and responsibilities devolved from Government in a way that 
enables delivery of a Regional Transport Strategy. Currently Transport 
for the North is the only organisation that has been made a statutory 
body. 
 

2.4 England’s Economic Heartlands (EEH) are currently consulting on the 
Outline Transport Strategy: Framework for Engagement which runs until 
6pm 31 October 2019 and can be found on England’s Economic 
Heartlands webpages. The Framework for Engagement sets out the 
challenges and opportunities faced by the region and to achieve growth 
and zero carbon transport system by 2050.The views received and 
currently commissioned technical work will be used to develop a draft 
transport strategy which will be the subject of formal consultation in the 
first half of 2020. It provides a useful opportunity to highlight the Council’s 
priorities for transport infrastructure on a regional level. 

 

Page 10 of 42

http://www.englandseconomicheartland.com/Pages/outline-transport-strategy.aspx
http://www.englandseconomicheartland.com/Pages/outline-transport-strategy.aspx


3. STRATEGY AND OBJECTIVES OF THE DRAFT OUTLINE 
TRANSPORT STRATEGY: FRAMEWORK FOR ENGAGEMENT 

 

3.1  The strategy for the Draft Outline Transport Strategy: Framework for 
Engagement focuses on: 

● Improved connectivity for local journeys – ensuring that users 
have access to convenient, attractive and safe choices for 
movement and supports the underpinning principles of being 
active and inclusive 

● Freight and logistics – the continued success and growth of our 
economy will be dependent upon our businesses having access to 
labour and access to markets 

● National/international connectivity – ensuring that connections 
between the Heartland and neighbouring regions are of a high 
quality. 

3,2 Their vision is focused around three themes: 
● Enabling economic growth: Supporting planned housing and 

economic growth through coordinated investment in infrastructure 
and services. Improving safety reliability and resilience of the 
network to maximise productivity of goods services and 
commuters, 

● Accessibility and inclusion – providing attractive affordable and 
reliable travel choices and reducing barriers to travel e.g. financial, 
cultural digital or physical. 

● Quality of life and environment – unlocking opportunities to 
improve health. Improving the quality of the built and natural 
environment. Delivering environmental net gain. Becoming zero 
carbon by 2050. 

 
3.3 The Strategy and vision is built around four core objectives of: 

● Connecting People (pages 22-33 of the FfE) 
● Connecting Places (pages 34-65 of the FfE) 
● Connecting Opportunities (pages 66-77 of the FfE) 
● Connecting Services (pages 78-87 of the FfE) 

 
Connecting People 
 
3.4 To ‘connect people’ the EEH envisions a transport system centred on 

frictionless travel across the region for the people who use it and 
investment to achieve fully integrated ‘end-to-end’ journeys (first mile/last 
mile). A major study has been commissioned as part of the evidence 
base to underpin the draft transport strategy.  

 
3.5 The FfE identifies an objective to improve access to transport hubs 

offering longer distance trips by mass transit (rail, coach and bus) and 
reducing the need to travel by car. Transport systems should also work 
to addresses physical, cultural and digital barriers to travel. 

 
3.6 The ‘connecting people’ objective aims to create changes in travel 

behaviour, led in particular by the expansion of digital services and using 
transport hubs and wide-scale ownership of shared travel modes. The 
objective aspires to aligning planning for transport systems with land use 

Page 11 of 42



and economic planning ambitions across the region. Integrated ticketing 
solutions are also proposed to provide passengers with ease of access 
and frictionless travel between modes and service providers will be 
prioritised. 

 
Connecting Places 
 
3.7 To achieve the objective of connecting places the FfE aims to: 

 Deliver investment in strategic transport corridors to transform 
travel patterns and improve connectivity.  

 Deliver East West Rail and investment in the strategic road 
network (the Oxford Cambridge Expressway, A1(M)) are key 
elements of the new multi-modal east-west spine across the 
Heartland region). The Strategy recognises the Combined 
Authority’s Cambridge Autonomous Network Proposal. 

 Invest in north-south strategic corridors. 

 Pair investment in strategic transport corridors with digital 
infrastructure at the same time. 

 Reflect the implications of improved digital connectivity on future 
travel demand in the design of the strategic transport corridors. 

 
3.8 England’s Economic Heartland has been charged by the Government to 

take forward a connectivity study linked with supporting access to the 
new emerging solutions for east-west strategic road connectivity between 
Oxford and Milton Keynes. This work will form part of the technical 
evidence supporting the draft Transport Strategy. They also recognise 
the need to take forward a similar study to investigate connectivity 
to/from the strategic road network between Milton Keynes and 
Cambridge. They will also review the current pattern of rail services to 
ensure that they are fit for purpose. 

 
3.9 The Transport Strategy will restate the case made by the original Rees 

Jeffreys Road Fund report that the Major Road Network should be 
viewed as a single network and be reviewed during the development of 
the Strategy. The long term investment pipeline associated with the 
Major Road Network will be developed in parallel with the work on the 
Transport Strategy. 

 
Connecting Opportunities 

 
3.10 The FfE is committed to creating opportunities for growth, widening 

labour markets and supporting business growth. To do this it aims to:  

 Improve connectivity, especially between business clusters to 
benefit the regional economy; 

 ensure that economic growth helps us achieve a zero carbon 
transport system by 2050; 

 Improve connectivity to international gateways to support business 
activity by providing access to global markets (including better 
access to Heathrow, Stansted and Luton airports),  a more 
accessible workforce and also to support individuals acquiring 
skills that enable them to realise their full potential. 
 

Page 12 of 42



3.11 To do this they will have to work with Local Enterprise Partnerships and 
have established an Innovation Working Group to bring together 
expertise across the region with a view to exploiting opportunities to use 
artificial intelligence and data as a catalyst for the development of new 
models of delivery for transport services in partnership with the private 
sector. 

 
3.12 A Regional Policy Scenario Model will also model transport demand 

needs based on what stage people are at in their lives. England’s 
Economic Heartlands will use data gathered to anticipate future travel 
demands to encourage investment and innovation from the private 
sector. 

 

Connecting Services 
  

3.13 The FfE wants to create a Transport Strategy that connects services to 
enhance the economy, this will be achieved by: 

● Identifying the way major infrastructure projects can be optimised 
and addressing lorry parking challenges. 

● Collecting and improving the quality and availability of freight data, 
creating a data repository to inform future interventions. 

● creation of a new or improved freight forum and/or representing 
the region on an emerging Freight Leadership Council  to shape 
policies and raise the profile of freight and to develop sector skills 
shortage and champion innovation. 

● Identifying a network of strategic rail freight interchanges and rail 
terminals to address gaps in provision. 

● Working with Network Rail and partners to prioritise capacity 
enhancement, electrification, loading gauge enhancements and 
train capacity. 

● Developing regional standards and best practice principles on 
goods delivery restrictions, delivery and servicing plans and 
solutions for deliveries into historic cities and towns. 

● Taking forward more detailed feasibility work with other regional 
bodies and Network Rail to quantify the level of freight demand 
along East West Rail. 

 

4. KEY DIAGRAMS AND FUTURE VISIONS 
 

4.1 The FfE contains illustrative maps which identify key issues. It also 
establishes ‘future visions’ to improve connectivity for specific types of 
developments. The EEH asks whether the ‘future visions’ are ambitious, 
attainable or desirable. For reference these can be found on the following 
pages of the FfE: 

● Major strategic links map identified on page 16-17 - The A141 is 
not included on this map. 

● Clusters of businesses and organisations excelling in science, 
technology and research that exist in the Heartland are identified 
on pages 18-19. Alconbury Enterprise Zone was the only 
identified business cluster. The map also identified St Neots and 
Huntingdon as ‘major towns and cities’. 

● Future Vision - High Street: addresses what the high street can do 
to rejuvenate town centres. Pages 20-21. 

Page 13 of 42



● Future Vision - New housing development: addresses what 
transport infrastructure can do to improve new developments on 
pages 32-33. 

● The strategy identifies a hierarchy of facilities which are important 
to large Research and Development Business. This includes good 
public transport hubs, housing shops, hotels, meeting facilities, 
Childcare etc. This can be found on pages 72-73 of the strategy. 

● The map on page 74-75 identifies Major Science, technology and 
innovation within the region. In Huntingdonshire Huntingdon Life 
Sciences and Forward Composites Enocam are identified. 

● Future Vision for Business Parks: The strategy identifies a nine 
point vision for establishing successful business parks on pages 
76-77: 

● Rural Setting: pages 86-87 identify a seven point plan to support 
and improve transport accessibility for rural communities. 

 

5. INVESTMENT 
 

5.1 The approach to investment will  be underpinned by better understanding 
of the travel needs of individuals, and driven by their expectations of the 
transport system. An agreed programme of investment will be 
established. 

 
5.2 EEH will make the case as to the benefit of developing the programme of 

investment within an indicative funding envelope set by Government. At a 
national level, the Government has adopted such an approach as part of 
the National Infrastructure Assessment. England’s Economic Heartlands 
believe extending this approach to the regional level will encourage an 
honest discussion as to how best achieve the desired outcomes in the 
most cost effective way. They will also explore whether the current level 
of funding available to local partners to support the development of 
proposals is sufficient. 

 
5.3 England’s Economic Heartlands believes in the need for stronger 

integration of investment by Government, its agencies, local authorities, 
as well as infrastructure and service providers and the need to push the 
case for investment through a single voice and at the right scale to have 
impact and success 

 
6. DELIVERY 
 
6.1 England’s Economic Heartland operates as a partnership. A Strategic 

Alliance was formed in 2015 with Local Authorities. 
 

6.2 EEH note that many of the ambitions set out within the final Transport 
Strategy will be dependent on the commitment and ambition of partners. 
Decisions on preferred approaches to solutions will require the support 
and oversight of the bodies that are responsible for their delivery 
including: partner local authorities, Highways England, Network Rail, 
East West Railway Company, and bus and train operators, amongst 
others. 

 

Page 14 of 42



6.3 Delivery partners (the companies providing professional services to 
partners) will also assist in providing a source of knowledge and 
experience in the development, design and implementation of investment 
in strategic infrastructure and services. They will also be involved in 
developing the programme of investment, including consideration of 
future skills requirements within the sector. 

 
7. CONSULTATION 
 
7.1 A copy of the draft Local Transport Plan was distributed Council-wide via 

email for comment to the following recipients:  
 

Name Job Title 

Neil Sloper Head of Operations 

Matt Chudley Operations Manager Environmental Services 

Andrew Rogan Operations Manager Commercial Services 

Chris Jablonski Business Development Manager 

George McDowell Parking Services Manager 

Helen Lack Development Manager 

Nigel McCurdy Corporate Director (Place) 

Clara Kerr Service Manager - Growth 

Jacob Jaarsma Planning Service Manager (DM) 

Susan Bedlow Economic Development Manager 

Charlotte Fox Strategic Developments Team leader 

Clare Bond Planning Policy Team Leader 

Claire Burton Implementation Team Leader 

Oliver Morley Corporate Director (People) 

Jon Collen Housing Needs and Resources Manager 

Chris Stopford Head of Community 

Finlay Flett Operational Manager (People) 

Jayne Wiseley Head of Leisure and Health 

Jo Peadon Active Lifestyles and Health Manager 

Martin Grey Sports Development Manager 

Clive Mason Head of Resources 

Jackie Golby Commercial Estates Manger 

 
7.2 The key comments are as follows:  

 

 The need to highlight the Prospectuses for Growth are underway 

 The aims of the EEH are very similar to the LTP 

 It is noted that England’s Economic Heartlands is going to submit 
a proposal to establish a statutory Sub-national Transport Body 
with powers and responsibilities devolved from Government in a 
way that enables delivery of the Transport Strategy 

 The Council therefore supports the FfE objectives of connecting 
people, places, and opportunities and to achieve zero carbon by 
2050. However, it is felt that the strategy fails to address the 
needs of those with lower skill sets who are also a valuable asset 
in the functioning of a healthy economy. 

Page 15 of 42



 The FfE also omits to mention the requirements and importance 
of smaller businesses and is heavily focussed on research and 
development and the hi-tech economy.  Greater emphasis could 
also be placed on understanding the needs of large industrial 
uses and warehousing. 

 The Council agrees that the draft transport strategy should aspire 
to make the region and Huntingdonshire a better place to work 
and invest and deliver new and appropriate housing in the right 
places at the right time. Careful consideration of Local Plans and 
future growth across the districts should be assessed and 
incorporated into the draft Transport Strategy when created. The 
Council welcomes consultation and engagement on this. 

 The FfE identifies some useful research currently being 
undertaken to understand the transport needs of the region. This 
information should be widely distributed amongst the various 
transport authorities and groups to enable a better understanding 
at regional and local level. This would be especially useful for 
Local Plan and Local Transport Strategy preparation 

 These future visions offer an insight into how our transport 
system might look up to 2050. The aims and objectives are 
admirable, but little information is provided to understand how 
this could be achieved. In terms of High Street and Rural Setting, 
investment and project areas would have to be identified for 
enhancement and improvement. 

 With regard to Business Parks and New Housing Development 
further discussion would be required with Local Planning 
Authorities to understand how this could be achieved in planning 
terms and whether additional funding would be available to 
applicants to realise this ambition. 

 
7.3 The Consultation asks key questions, namely: 
 

1) Does the draft vision ("connecting people and places with 
opportunities and services") provide sufficient focus for the 
Transport Strategy? 

2) Is the ambition to have a zero-carbon transport system by 2050 
sufficiently challenging? 

3) Do the three key principles (enabling economic growth; 
accessibility and inclusion; quality of life and environment) provide 
an appropriate framework within which to develop the Transport 
Strategy? 

4) What are the key factors influencing people’s choice of travel 
mode? 

5) What are the key barriers that need to be addressed if we are to 
achieve frictionless travel? 

6) What performance measures should be used to identify the levels 
of service users require of the transport system? 

7) Should the strategy include and define appropriate ‘nudge 
principles’ (small changes which can influence user behaviour) to 
encourage more people to use public transport in the Heartland 
area? 

Page 16 of 42



8) What weight should be given to the changes in travel demand 
arising from the delivery of transformational infrastructure? 

9) What weight should be given to the potential of the rail network to 
accommodate a higher proportion of future travel demand? 

10) Have we identified the key strategic transport corridors? 
11) Are there specific issues that should be taken into consideration 

as part of the connectivity studies? 
12) To what extent should we look to the growth in digital services to 

change the nature and scale of future travel demand? 
13) What are the core connectivity requirements for businesses 

operating from the region? 
14) What are the key performance measures for the Transport System 

from a business perspective? 
15) What measures should the overarching Transport Strategy include 

in order to enable the potential that exists within the four Grand 
Challenges of the Industrial Strategy to be realised? 

16) To what extent is investment in digital infrastructure more 
significant and/or urgent than physical infrastructure? 

17) How will the way we access goods and services continue to 
change, and what are the key issues that need to be addressed in 
the Transport Strategy? 

18) What freight and logistics services are important for people and 
businesses? For example, accessing goods (via delivery or in 
person); a thriving high street; access to health, education and 
leisure facilities? 

19) Just in time and last minute operations are affecting the way 
people and businesses access goods and services. How should 
this growing trend affect the way we plan transport now, and in the 
future? 

20) Is the approach to investment the right one? If not, why not? 
21) Is the approach to delivery the right one? If not, why not? 

 

7.4 A draft officer response can be found at appendix 2. 
 
8. COMMENTS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 

8.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Performance and Growth) received 
the England’s Economic Heartlands - Outline Transport Strategy: 
Framework for Engagement report at the meeting on 1st October 2019. 

 
8.2 A Member asked about the roll out of fibre broadband to the market 

towns. The Panel was informed that Connecting Cambridgeshire aims to 
bring areas up to a certain standard of broadband. There are also plans 
to fit digital infrastructure alongside highway schemes. 

 
8.3 The Panel requests that the Cabinet endorses the recommendations in 

the report. 
 
9. KEY IMPACTS/RISKS  
 
9.1 Potential resource implications if additional capacity is required to input 

into further development of the Outline Transport Strategy. 

Page 17 of 42



 
10. WHAT ACTIONS WILL BE TAKEN/TIMETABLE FOR 

IMPLEMENTATION 
 

10.1 Subject to approval from Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Performance and 
Growth) the Council’s final consultation response will be submitted to 
England’s Economic Heartlands by 6pm on 31 October 2019. 

 
11. LINK TO THE CORPORATE PLAN, STRATEGIC PRIORITIES AND / 

OR CORPORATE OBJECTIVES 
 
11.1 The EEH Outline Transport Strategy assists in the delivery of a number 

of objectives related to the Council’s work programme and key actions 
including: 

 Supporting new and growing businesses and promoting business 
success 

 Supporting the delivery of the Alconbury Enterprise Zone 

 Supporting economic growth in market towns and rural areas 

 Promoting inward investment 

 Influencing the development of the Highways and Transport 
Infrastructure 

 Strategy 

 Facilitating the delivery of infrastructure to support housing growth 

 Improving the quality of the environment, by including 
infrastructure that supports people to walk and cycle 

 Facilitate and provide opportunities for positive activities that 
support residents’ health and wellbeing needs 

 Prioritising accessible, high quality, well maintained open space, 
walking and cycling facilities on new housing developments 

 Collaborating with partners, providers and stakeholders in an 
enterprising fashion to enhance community resilience and build 
sustainable opportunities for people 

 

12. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

12.1 None, this is a consultation response. 
 

13. HEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 
13.1 The Government has recognised the need to plan for and deliver 

substantial new infrastructure ahead of the arrival of new communities, 
including necessary transport infrastructure, utilities, digital connectivity, 
health and education. Projects identified in the Framework for 
Engagement if implemented will facilitate and provide opportunities for 
positive activities that support Huntingdonshire’s residents’ health and 
wellbeing needs including multi-modal transport options and an 
increased emphasis on connecting people by way of cycling 
opportunities. 

 

Page 18 of 42



14. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDED DECISIONS 
 

14.1 The Framework for Engagement provides opportunities to enhance and 
support opportunities for growth across the England’s Heartlands 
Regions, Combined Authority Area and Huntingdonshire. The Council’s 
response to this consultation will help to shape the draft Strategic 
Transport Plan and provide a steer for future infrastructure projects 
influencing the district and enabling and supporting Huntingdonshire’s 
Local Plan to 2036 and the Council’s Corporate Objectives. 
Recommendations provided in the Council’s consultation response will 
ensure that Huntingdonshire is adequately represented within the 
Regional Transport Strategy and that schemes support 
Huntingdonshire’s Local Plan to 2036 and ambitions for growth. 

 
14.2 It is recommended that Cabinet provide comments on this consultation 

and delegate authority to submit the Council’s final consultation 
comments on this consultation to the Service Manager - Growth, in 
consultation with the Executive Leader and Deputy Executive Leader. 

 
15. LIST OF APPENDICES INCLUDED 
 

Appendix 1 - Huntingdonshire District Council’s draft Consultation 
Response to the Outline Transport Strategy: Framework for 
Engagement 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
England’s Economic Heartlands – Outline Transport Strategy: Framework for 
Engagement 
 
England’s Economic Heartlands - Outline Transport Strategy: Framework for 
Engagement Report to Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Performance and 
Growth).  
 

 

CONTACT OFFICER 
 
Name/Job Title: Frances Schulz, Senior Planning Policy Officer 
Tel No:   01480 388432 
Email:   frances.schulz@huntingdonshire.gov.uk 

Page 19 of 42

http://www.englandseconomicheartland.com/Pages/outline-transport-strategy.aspx
http://www.englandseconomicheartland.com/Pages/outline-transport-strategy.aspx
http://moderngov.huntsdc.gov.uk:8070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=10235&MId=7632&Ver=4
http://moderngov.huntsdc.gov.uk:8070/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=10235&MId=7632&Ver=4
mailto:frances.schulz@huntingdonshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 –DRAFT CONSULTATION RESPONSE  
 

 

1.  Does the draft vision ("connecting people and places with opportunities 
and services") provide sufficient focus for the Transport Strategy? 

 
Yes, the Council believes that the draft vision is appropriately balanced to 
connect people, places and skills through infrastructure provision. The 
additional focus of improving freight infrastructure to ease pressure on local 
road infrastructure is also welcomed. 

 
EEH is also advised to review the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Combined Authority Local Transport Strategy. The consultation concludes on 
the 27th September 2019. 

 
2. Is the ambition to have a zero-carbon transport system by 2050 

sufficiently challenging? 
 

Any target to achieve zero carbon by 2050 is going to be extremely 
challenging. The Council supports this principle, which accords with its 
corporate place objectives to create, protect and enhance our safe and clean 
built and green environment. 

To assist in achieving this aim the draft transport strategy should include the 
following interventions: linking to high quality open space; integrating 
environmental considerations including biodiversity net gain throughout 
development of the future transport network; and ensuring that all new 
transport schemes cause minimal disruption to the environment both during 
construction and operation. Investing in the electrification of local taxi fleets 
and running buses on sustainable fuels should also be championed. The 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority mention within their 
draft Local Transport Plan that they are undertaking trials of electric and 
hybrid buses  to understand and examine their operation on the local network; 
rapid electric vehicle charging points are also being installed in Peterborough. 
The Combined Authority is also working towards Cambridge Autonomous 
Metro network which has the potential to service outlying areas within 
Huntingdonshire. Support of these objectives would help to ensure a joined up 
approach across the Region in terms of strategic priorities. 

  
It is recommended that lessons are learnt from other countries and districts 
that are also working towards achieving zero carbon and traffic free town 
centres. Many academic studies have been undertaken on such projects. 
Linking potential project ideas with such studies could prove beneficial in the 
long run and help to identify the projects best suited to achieve the objective. 
Engagement with national / sub national sustainable transport bodies would 
also be beneficial. 

 
3. Do the three key principles (enabling economic growth; accessibility 

and inclusion; quality of life and environment) provide an appropriate 
framework within which to develop the Transport Strategy? 

 

Page 21 of 42



APPENDIX 1 –DRAFT CONSULTATION RESPONSE  
 

 

Yes, this is reflective of Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority’s 
draft Local Transport Plan and Huntingdonshire’s Corporate Objectives of making 
Huntingdonshire: 

 a better place to live, to improve health and well-being and support people to 
be the best they can be; and  

 support a safe and healthy environment, deliver economic growth and provide 
value for money services for the people of Huntingdonshire 
 

4. What are the key factors influencing people’s choice of travel mode? 
 

Opportunities to provide multi-modal transport corridors should be identified 
and promoted. Additional focus should also be attributed to the ‘first mile’ and 
‘last mile’ of journeys. Enabling multi-modal transport hubs and improved 
cycling, walking and public transport connections for residents and commuters 
is vital to encourage commuting and sustainable travel by providing a variety 
of travel options in both rural and urban areas. This should be mainstreamed 
through all modes of transport infrastructure. 

 
Currently the frequency, reliability and availability of public transport in rural 
areas are main influencing factors in the choice of travel modes. Public 
transport in these cannot accommodate the needs of certain business types in 
rural areas, for example shift workers and night workers have no, or limited 
access to public transport. In such cases safety is also a key influencing factor 
e.g. waiting for public transport at night or in areas with no natural surveillance 
can deter use. The cost of public transport is also a major barrier to those on 
low incomes. 

 
5.  What are the key barriers that need to be addressed if we are to achieve 

frictionless travel? 
 

Please note: Some of the key barriers to frictionless travel are addressed in 
question 4 (above).  

 
Connectivity of cycling and walking routes within the district is limited outside 
key locations in Huntingdonshire. Greater emphasis should be afforded to 
resolving missing links and capturing opportunities for longer distance cycle 
routes for commuting and recreation. It is recommended that additional focus 
should also be attributed to the ‘first mile’ and ‘last mile’ of journeys to 
encourage commuting and sustainable travel by providing a variety of travel 
options in both rural and urban areas and making them more desirable to get 
to and from by bicycle. 

 
Cooperation from public transport service providers will also be essential in 
relation to frequency and cost of services. Engaging with local businesses will 
also help England’s Economic Heartlands to better understand the needs of 
businesses in terms of operational and employee needs and barriers.  

 
In some cases the largest barrier to achieving frictionless travel will be to 
address the culture change required by the public and businesses. This will 

Page 22 of 42



APPENDIX 1 –DRAFT CONSULTATION RESPONSE  
 

 

require greater engagement and understanding of how to bring about that 
shift in thinking.   

6. What performance measures should be used to identify the levels of 
service users require of the transport system? 

 
There needs to be ingoing engagement with communities to understand 
evolving needs beyond any initial set up. This would be more effective in the 
form of focus groups with key stakeholders from across the patch. This would 
be more effective than a blanket email which may likely lead to low returns.  

7.  Should the strategy include and define appropriate ‘nudge principles’ 
(small changes which can influence user behaviour) to encourage more 
people to use public transport in the Heartland area? 

 
Integrated ticketing systems and rural travel hubs will enable rural areas to 
benefit economically and socially from enhanced public transport 
opportunities. Subsidised ticketing in rural areas would also help to achieve a 
greater frequency of travel as financial accessibility to public transport is also 
a major barrier to usage. 

Schemes identified to improve rural transport infrastructure should also 
include projects to join up cycling infrastructure where missing links exist 
creating a comprehensive cycle network and the establishment of longer 
routes that could be used for both recreation and commuting. 

Multi-modal transport hubs with easy access to cycling facilities and inter-
urban high frequency and direct public transport would also encourage 
changes in user behaviour. 

Definition is required so all user groups can see themselves in the shift and 
understand how their contribution contributes toward the higher aim of net 
zero carbon but without additional financial burden, particularly for those on 
lower incomes.  

8.  What weight should be given to the changes in travel demand arising 
from the delivery of transformational infrastructure? 

 
Weighting is a complex question. When the question of weighting arises, the 
context of the question is not clear. Clearly, assuming the change in travel 
demand is to that of public transport, positive weight should be attached, 
however to give the degree of weighting one would need to know all the 
factors being weighed upon in that scenario. 

9. What weight should be given to the potential of the rail network to 
accommodate a higher proportion of future travel demand? 

 
Again, same answer as No. 8. 

10.  Have we identified the key strategic transport corridors? 
 

Page 23 of 42



APPENDIX 1 –DRAFT CONSULTATION RESPONSE  
 

 

The A141 is a major strategic link within the Huntingdonshire District; it is 
considered a major link for rural communities and Ramsey market town to 
Huntingdon. Ramsey is identified in Huntingdonshire’s Local Plan to 2036 as 
a Spatial Planning Area and one of four market towns within Huntingdonshire 
suitable for sustainable growth. The Spatial Planning Areas are responsible 
for providing approximately three quarters of the district’s objectively 
assessed need for housing and the majority of employment and retail. The 
A141 is the key to opening up and sustaining growth towards the North of the 
district and will provide additional transport infrastructure for strategic 
development sites such as Alconbury Weald. The A141 has not been 
identified as a strategic transport corridor on the map on pages 16-17 of the 
FfE and the Council recommends its inclusion. 

11.  Are there specific issues that should be taken into consideration as part 
of the connectivity studies? 

 
The Council supports the promotion of greater connectivity, especially to 
enhance inclusivity for our more rural communities. However, there are 
challenges in the Fens that can be challenging to overcome, namely flood 
risk. It is noted that the document does not refer to physical challenges that 
require mitigation in delivering connectivity. This is a key issue in the north 
east of our District, around the Market town of Ramsey.  

12.  To what extent should we look to the growth in digital services to 
change the nature and scale of future travel demand? 

 
The Council approves of the ambition to provide faster, more reliable digital 
connectivity, with digital infrastructure such as fibre ducting delivered 
alongside transport infrastructure where possible. Faster and more reliable 
digital infrastructure is a key component to achieving alternative working 
behaviours such as home working and video conferencing which can 
decrease the need to travel and contribute towards reducing congestion on 
our roads. Another key area of investigation with regard to digital 
infrastructure is the potential cost of internet and data packages for low 
income households and small businesses; it is recommended that further 
work is conducted in this area to understand the implications of achieving a 
comprehensive and accessible digital infrastructure network. 

13. What are the core connectivity requirements for businesses operating 
from the region? 

 
The core connectivity issues for businesses operating in Huntingdonshire 
include an uncongested reliable transport network which enables just in time 
delivery in terms of supply and dispatch. Fast reliable internet is especially 
important for all businesses, but is currently lacking in rural areas and can 
limit flexible working patterns. Straightforward connections to the strategic rail 
or road network are also essential. 

14. What are the key performance measures for the Transport System from 
a business perspective? 

Page 24 of 42



APPENDIX 1 –DRAFT CONSULTATION RESPONSE  
 

 

 
Time is money. There is a need to minimise delays; There are also concerns 
around mileage costs for congested roads. Goods need to be delivered on 
time and businesses need to be able to attract staff – both of which rely on a 
healthy network, along with a  choice of transport modes.   

15.  What measures should the overarching Transport Strategy include in 
order to enable the potential that exists within the four Grand 
Challenges of the Industrial Strategy to be realised? 

 
The key measure will be the increase in GVA across the patch.  

 
16.  To what extent is investment in digital infrastructure more significant 

and/or urgent than physical infrastructure? 
 

The Council approves of the ambition to provide faster, more reliable digital 
connectivity, with digital infrastructure such as fibre ducting delivered 
alongside transport infrastructure where appropriate. Faster and more reliable 
digital infrastructure is a key component to achieving alternative working 
behaviours such as home working and video conferencing which can 
decrease the need to travel and contribute towards reducing congestion on 
our roads. Another key area of investigation with regard to digital 
infrastructure is the potential cost of internet and data packages for low 
income households and small businesses; it is recommended that further 
work is conducted in this area to understand the implications of achieving a 
comprehensive and accessible digital infrastructure network. 

 
17.  How will the way we access goods and services continue to change, and 

what are the key issues that need to be addressed in the Transport 
Strategy? 

 
As we move to a more digital platform we need to ensure transport corridors 
actively incorporate the ability to integrate and update digital platforms.  

18.  What freight and logistics services are important for people and 
businesses? For example, accessing goods (via delivery or in person); a 
thriving high street; access to health, education and leisure facilities? 

 
All of the above are equally important to all sectors of the community. Without 
a transport network that can accommodate all of the above we will fail to 
deliver inclusive communities.  

19.  Just in time and last minute operations are affecting the way people and 
businesses access goods and services. How should this growing trend 
affect the way we plan transport now, and in the future? 

 
Planning for future developments in transport needs to be a more 
collaborative process, not just within the public private sectors but within the 
education sector to understand what technologies are emerging and therefore 
future trends.  

Page 25 of 42



APPENDIX 1 –DRAFT CONSULTATION RESPONSE  
 

 

20.  Is the approach to investment the right one? If not, why not? 
 

The Council agrees with the approach to investment (pages 88-99) in terms of 
using evidence to identify investment programmes. However, there is little 
else to comment on in this section as there is no real indication of how the 
investment programme will be decided upon. It is advised that this is clarified 
in the draft Transport Strategy. 

An integrated approach to investment and delivery from a regional, local and 
Combined Authority perspective will be essential and it is recommended that 
any project that span all three areas are discussed and assessed across 
agencies to ensure a joined up approach. 

The Council is supportive of the intention to explore whether the current level 
of funding available to local partners to support the development of 
infrastructure proposals is sufficient and look forward to the findings. 

 
21.  Is the approach to delivery the right one? If not, why not? 
 

The Council agrees that many of the ambitions set out within the FfE will be 
dependent on the commitment and ambition of partners. Decisions on 
preferred approaches to solutions will most definitely require the support and 
oversight of the bodies that are responsible for their successful delivery 
including: partner Local Authorities, Highways England, Network Rail, East 
West Railway Company, and the bus and train operators, amongst others. An 
integrated approach to investment and delivery from a regional, local and 
Combined Authority perspective will be essential and it is recommended that 
projects that span all three areas are discussed and assessed across 
agencies to ensure a joined up approach. 

 
It is also agreed that delivery partners (the companies providing professional 
services) will provide an invaluable source of knowledge and experience in 
the development, design and implementation of investment in strategic 
infrastructure and services. Involving these partners in the development of an 
investment programme will ensure that project delivery is feasible and 
achievable.  

 
Final Thoughts: 
 

It is considered that the questions, as framed are rather ambiguous. It would 
have been for helpful to have fewer, more focussed questions.  

 

Page 26 of 42



 
 

HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 

Title/Subject Matter:  Final Report of the Accelerating the Delivery of 
Affordable Housing Task and Finish Group 

 
Meeting/Date:   Cabinet – 24th October 2019 
 
Executive Portfolio:  Councillor R Fuller, Executive Councillor for 

Housing, Planning and Economic Development 
 
Report by:   Councillor S J Corney and Councillor J P Morris 

(Members of the Task and Finish Group) 
 
Wards affected:   All 

 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
The Accelerating the Delivery of Affordable Housing Task and Finish Group 
reviewed an extensive amount of evidence as well as hearing testimony from a 
number of expert witnesses on ways to increase and accelerate the 
development of affordable housing, particularly through the use of Rural 
Exception Sites (RES).  
 
Affordability of housing was identified as a significant issue for residents by the 
Annual Governance Statement: Significant Issues report presented to the 
Corporate Governance Committee in March 2018. In addition to this, the 
Council’s Corporate Plan 2018-22 pledges to improve the supply of new and 
affordable housing with a performance indicator committing the Council to 
measure the number of new affordable homes delivered. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
The Cabinet should consider and endorse the following recommendations: 
 

1. Whilst recognising the importance of Rural Exception Sites in 
providing affordable housing to areas that need them, the Council 
should not be reliant on the mechanism in order to accelerate and 
increase the delivery of affordable housing. 

2. The Council should continue to support Rural Exception Sites and 
promote the opportunities they will bring in providing affordable 
housing to rural areas. 

3. The Council should continue to review and, if practicable, pursue 
the opportunities that partnership working with Housing 
Associations offer in accelerating the development of affordable 
housing. In particular, it should continue to encourage and support 

Public 

Key Decision - No  

Page 27 of 42

Agenda Item 4



housing associations in securing sites in their own right resulting 
in less reliance on developers.  

4. In addition to receiving such data in the Integrated Performance 
Reports, all Members should be sent statistics on homelessness 
and the number of affordable homes completed biannually. 
 

Page 28 of 42



 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The report will inform Cabinet of the findings and recommendations of 

the Accelerating the Delivery of Affordable Housing Task and Finish 
Group. It will outline the evidence reviewed and the key points of the 
expert witnesses. 

 
2. WHY IS THIS REPORT NECESSARY/BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Annual Governance Statement: Significant Issues report presented 

to the Corporate Governance Committee on 28th March 2018 identified 
housing affordability as a significant issue which was subsequently 
added to the Annual Governance Statement 2017/18. The issue would 
impact on the Council’s ability to deliver the Corporate Plan. 
 

2.2 The lack of affordable housing has contributed to the rise of 
homelessness and, as the Council has a statutory responsibility to assist 
homeless residents, this has created a greater financial burden upon the 
budget.  

 
2.3 In light of this, the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Performance and 

Growth) established a task and finish group on accelerating the delivery 
of affordable housing. 

 
3. OPTIONS CONSIDERED/ANALYSIS 
 
3.1 In starting their investigation, Members reviewed a number of documents 

and noted that affordability is an issue particularly for the lower quartile 
as the price to income ratio for Huntingdonshire is 8.8 which clearly 
demonstrates that local housing is unaffordable for low income 
households.  
 

3.2 Once affordability was confirmed as an issue, Members sought to 
establish the District’s affordable homes requirement by reviewing the 
Housing Strategy 2017-20. The strategy states that the District requires 
7,897 new affordable homes to be provided in the period between 2011 
and 2036. 

 
3.3 In financial year 2017/18 123 new affordable homes were completed, 

and in 2018/19 it was 268. For 2019/20, 300+ are anticipated so the 
trend in supply is increasing. If delivery through to 2036 is 250 new 
affordable homes per year the District would be short of the target by 
2,166 homes. Members concluded that the delivery of affordable house 
needs to be accelerated to an average of 377 affordable home 
completions per year. 

 
3.4 Members reviewed the need for Rural Exception Sites (RES) within 

Huntingdonshire. The District is largely rural with many communities 
needing a supply of new housing, including affordable housing, in order 
to maintain their vitality and assist residents in finding accommodation 
that meets their changing needs. It was concluded that as RES is 
important in meeting local needs, it was important for Members to 

Page 29 of 42



investigate the mechanism for the possibility of using it to accelerate the 
supply of affordable housing. 

 
3.5 Community Land Trusts (CLTs) were discussed as a way of delivering 

affordable housing; however there are factors that make CLTs an 
unsuitable mechanism to accelerate delivery within the District. CLTs 
need to be established as a legal entity which can take some 
considerable time. They also need to be community-led which requires 
the long term commitment of trustees who are often made up of 
volunteers giving up their free time to manage the project. As a result, 
Members remained unconvinced as to whether CLTs would deliver the 
appropriate levels of affordable housing required. 

 
4. EXPERT WITNESSES 

 
4.1.1 Cambridgeshire ACRE 

 
The Group invited Mr Mark Deas of Cambridgeshire Action with 
Communities in Rural England (ACRE) to a meeting on 12th March 2019 
to discuss Rural Exception Sites (RES). Mr Deas explained that the 
bigger the village the more likely the need for RES and that where there 
is more affordable housing stock the demand is greater. 
 

4.1.2 It was explained that developing RES can take Cambridgeshire ACRE a 
considerable amount of time. The Parish Council would have to be 
engaged; then a housing needs survey would need to be undertaken and 
that would have to show the majority of the parish supports the principle 
of a RES. After those stages have been undertaken, potential sites would 
have to be identified, after which the landowner would need to be 
engaged with. It was noted that the Council’s policy to allow 40% of the 
RES to be developed for market has encouraged some landowners to 
allow development. 
 

4.1.3 Mr Deas advised Members that, although RES are a valuable tool in 
delivering affordable housing, it is not the solution in delivering affordable 
housing on a larger scale.  
 

4.2.1 Cross Keys Homes and Longhurst Group 
 
Mr Mark Hanson of Cross Keys Homes and Mr Ian Jackson of Longhurst 
attended the meeting on 23rd April 2019. In relation to RES, Mr Hanson 
explained that, in his experience, RES are very slow, expensive, involve 
a lot of time management and do not produce many units. It was noted 
that RES can take 4 to 5 years to complete but Mr Hanson has known 
one site which took 14 years to complete. This means that, as the 
process for RES is quite slow, it is not a mechanism which could be used 
to significantly accelerate the delivery of affordable housing. 
 

4.2.2 When discussing the main issues in delivering affordable housing Mr 
Hanson and Mr Jackson informed the Group that the private sector 
absorption rates mean that housing rates are delivered slowly, obtaining 
land can be difficult and labour costs are high due to labour and skills 

Page 30 of 42



shortage. Affordable Housing delivery has historically been via housing 
associations relying on developer provision meaning they are reliant on 
developer timescales. Nonetheless it was acknowledged this is a useful 
delivery mechanism and it was further acknowledged that the Council 
has been successful in securing 40% Affordable Housing on most sites. 
Increasingly however, organisations such as Longhurst and Cross Keys 
are forming a partnership and acquiring whole sites and then providing 
an increased proportion of Affordable Housing. This not only increases 
supply but also accelerates delivery. 

 
4.3.1 Luminus 
 

Mr Nigel Finney and Mr John Walton of Luminus attended the meeting on 
30th April 2019. Members were acquainted with the opportunities of 
accelerating the delivery of affordable housing by collaborating with 
Luminus. 

 
4.3.2 The possibility of repurposing underutilised garage sites for affordable 

housing was discussed. The sites were built in the 1960s/70s, they can’t 
fit a modern car and are (where used) generally used for storage. 

 
4.3.3 Members were informed that if the Council wanted to develop affordable 

housing on its own land then Luminus would be willing to work in 
partnership in order to develop and manage the housing. It was 
recognised that the lack of land supply is an issue for the development of 
affordable housing. 

 
4.3.4 Luminus have a number of potential sites on which prefabricated homes 

could be provided; these offer speed of fabrication as well as 
construction. Some of the homes could be placed on large low density 
plots so there is an opportunity to reposition and add more units onto 
those plots. 

 
4.3.5 Through Places for People, Luminus has a strategic partnership with a 

modular homes provider who can produce 1000 units per year. It was 
noted that construction cost is a challenge when accelerating 
development and that using modular homes could provide a solution to 
the challenge. 

 
5. COMMENTS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 

5.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Performance and Growth) received 
the Final Report of the Accelerating the Delivery of Affordable Housing 
Task and Finish Group at the meeting on 1st October 2019. 

 
5.2 The Panel discussed the report and concluded that the Cabinet endorses 

the recommendations. 

 

Page 31 of 42



6. LINK TO THE CORPORATE PLAN, STRATEGIC PRIORITIES AND/OR 
CORPORATE OBJECTIVES 

 
6.1 The Council pledged in the Corporate Plan 2018-2022, under the Place 

section, to ‘improve the supply of new and affordable housing, jobs and 
community facilities to meet current and future need’. In addition, a 
specific performance indicator commits the Council to measure the 
number of new affordable homes delivered. 

 
7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
7.1 The Council would have to ensure that any effort to accelerate the 

delivery of affordable housing adheres to planning legislation.  
 
8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 Members would consider it prudent of the Council to explore 

opportunities to allow the development of affordable housing on parcels 
of land it owns. Whether it is through partnership with a housing 
association or through a local authority trading company. 
 

8.2 It was noted that, if the Council was to develop affordable housing on its 
land, this could be done via a local authority trading company which 
could resource implications. When a decision on this matter is taken, the 
option of working in partnership with a housing association to achieve 
broadly the same objectives should be taken into consideration. The 
decision should be based on which option best achieves the Council’s 
affordable housing objectives. 

 
9. HEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 

9.1 A balanced housing market can have a direct contribution to improved 
health and well-being for Huntingdonshire residents which could reduce 
demand on the health services in future years and also allow people to 
remain economically active. 

 

10. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 With Huntingdonshire’s average house price increased by 36% since 

April 2014, this has made it more difficult for some residents to purchase 
a property within the District. Delivering on affordable housing targets will 
mean that more residents can purchase or rent their own properties and 
will reduce the risk of becoming disadvantages or homeless. 

 
11. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDED DECISIONS  
 
11.1 When reviewing the RES mechanism the negatives highlighted by the 

expert witnesses were the following:  

 RES can take a considerable length of time to complete;  

 most RES are relatively small and do not produce a lot of 
affordable units; and, 

 land supply is an issue when finding suitable RES locations.  

Page 32 of 42



 
11.2 The Group concluded that, for the reasons outlined in 10.1, RES would 

be unsuitable to deliver affordable housing on a larger scale or 
accelerating the supply and that the Council should not concentrate all 
efforts on delivering more RES as it is unlikely that the mechanism will 
sufficiently ‘improve’ supply to the level required. Nonetheless it was 
acknowledged that the Council’s RES policy is innovative, does have the 
potential to deliver and the Council should continue to maximise 
opportunities to provide housing through this mechanism. 
 

11.3 As land supply was highlighted as an issue, the Group concluded that the 
Council should, where practicable, develop affordable housing on its own 
land. As the Council’s Corporate Plan commits to improving the supply of 
affordable housing and there is a performance indicator to measure 
progress, it is in the Council’s interest to use its land for the development 
of affordable housing. 

 
11.4 It was recognised that it is impracticable and undesirable for the Council 

to develop affordable housing in isolation. Therefore the Group 
recommends that, where practicable, the Council should work in 
partnership with Housing Associations in order to develop more 
affordable housing. It was clear in the meeting with Luminus that 
opportunities exist that would accelerate supply. 

 
11.5 During the Task and Finish Group meetings, it became clear that most 

Members are unclear of the housing need within Huntingdonshire. It was 
recommended that in order to remedy this, Members should be 
proactively sent data such as number of new affordable homes 
completed twice a year, in addition to the data received through the 
Integrated Performance Reports.  

 
12. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 Community Land Trusts Report, December 2018 
 Housing Strategy 2017-20 
 Housing Strategy Action Plan 2018/19 
 Local Plan Extract – LP 25, Affordable Housing Provision 
 Local Plan Extract – LP 30, Rural Exceptions Housing 
 

 

CONTACT OFFICER 
 
Adam Green, Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny) 
Tel No: 01480 388008 
Email: Adam.Green@huntingdonshire.gov.uk  

Page 33 of 42

mailto:Adam.Green@huntingdonshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 

Title/Subject Matter:  Lifelong Health Task and Finish Group – Part 
One Final Report 

 
Meeting/Date:   Cabinet – 24th October 2019 
 
Executive Portfolio:  Executive Councillor for Partnerships and Well-

Being, Councillor J M Palmer 
 
Report by:  Members of the Lifelong Health Task and Finish 

Group 
 
Wards affected:   All 

 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
The Lifelong Health Task and Finish Group was established to review the area 
of encouraging lifelong health because more residents are suffering with years 
of ill health and this generates additional cost to the Council through support 
needs.  
 
In order to assist the Group with their work, a number of objective tests were set 
in which all output would be measured against. The Members of the Group also 
set aims which focused the work to a more specific area of study. 
 
Members received written evidence, as well as conducted site visits to two 
Parish Councils with high levels of active residents. As a result of the findings 
from the evidence and site visits, the Group reached a number of conclusions 
which led onto the following four recommendations: 
 
Recommendations: 
 
The Cabinet is 
 
RECOMMENDED 
 
1) to produce and distribute an electronic guide for Parish Councils in 

order to encourage them to install their own health and sport 
facilities. 

2) to include on the agenda of the next Parish Conference a section 
which highlights the experiences of Little Paxton and Yaxley. 

3) to instruct the Leisure and Health service to continue to regularly 
liaise with Parish Councils and Community Groups, in order to 

Public 

Key Decision - No  

Page 35 of 42

Agenda Item 5



establish what events are taking place and then attend them to 
promote the Council’s health and well-being offer. 

4) to support the continuation of the Task and Finish Group and note 
the timetable contained in paragraph 6.3. 

Page 36 of 42



 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to outline the work, findings, conclusions and 

recommendations of the Lifelong Health Task and Finish Group.  
 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Objective Tests 
 
 The objective tests are tests that were agreed by Overview and Scrutiny 

to help steer activity of the Task and Finish Lifelong Health Group, given 
the risk of the range of potential options and the desire to make a 
demonstrable impact. The objective test for the findings and 
recommendations of the task and finish group was that they encourage 
lifelong health by: 

 
 a) Reducing excess weight in adults 
 b) Reducing associated health issues, such as: 
  - Type two diabetes 
  - Coronary heart disease 
  - Some types of cancer, such as breast cancer and bowel 

cancer 
  - Stroke 
  - It can also affect your quality of life and lead to psychological 

problems, such as depression and self-esteem. 
 
2.2 Aims 
 
 The agreed aims for the task and finish review, as outlined in the scoping 

document, are: 
 

 Prevent ill health by encouraging residents to lead an active 
lifestyle. 

 Identify why some Parishes have healthy and active residents and 
others do not. 

 Identify ways to encourage communities to help themselves. 

 Identify activity levels on a Parish by Parish basis, cross reference 
activities and share best practice. 

 
3. A SUMMARY OF WHAT HAS BEEN DONE 
 
3.1 Received Evidence 
 
 The Task and Finish Group has received the following evidence: 

 Community based exercise and engagement programmes briefing 
note 

 Sports Organisations in Huntingdonshire 

 LGA Document ‘Shaping Healthy Places’ 

 Friends of the Rec (Histon and Impington) Newsletter 

 Suffolk Walking Festival Briefing Note 

 Kettering Health and Well-Being Festival Briefing Note 

Page 37 of 42



 News Article ‘Leeds becomes first UK city to lower its childhood 
obesity’. 
 

3.2 The Task and Finish Group has reviewed the inequalities briefing and as 
a result of reviewing this, the Members decided to undertake a site visit 
to Little Paxton, as the Parish is a centre of long life. 

 
3.3 The Task and Finish Group has conducted two site visits one to Little 

Paxton and the second to Yaxley. The reasoning for taking a site visit to 
Yaxley was that Members wanted to compare and contrast Little Paxton 
with another Parish and the case was made to undertake a site visit to 
Yaxley. 

 
4. SUMMARY OF FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

 
4.1.1 Little Paxton 

 
The Parish Council has developed a hub of facilities which are well used. 
The two most important aspects of this has been; it has been built up 
over many years and the dedication and patience of the Parish Clerk and 
Chairman. The Parish have been pro-active in finding funding from 
various sources for the installation of facilities and consulting with 
residents which creates a sense of ownership. 

 
4.1.2 It can be concluded that if any other Parish Council wants to follow the 

example of Little Paxton then they need to:  
a) assign a clear lead for the work at a senior level (Clerk/Chair) and 

recognise the amount of project work this will require. 
b)  create a plan (establish existing provision, consult with the 

community on the need,  design and delivery of the plan and 
specific projects).  

c)  accept that the plan is long term (possibly 10-15 years). 
d)  recognise the importance of good relationships with the 

community and organisations as a whole (e.g. church groups, 
sports clubs, brownies, scouts and GP’s). 

 
4.2.1 Yaxley 

 
The village is larger than Little Paxton and unsurprisingly has more 
facilities. The Parish Council has a number of facilities which generate an 
income for them, e.g. Queens Park football pitches, the buildings owned 
by the Parish Council including the hall and the 3G football pitch. In 
addition to this, the Parish Council are willing to support voluntary 
organisations by offering their facilities to those groups for free. The cost 
of doing so is worth £25k. The Parish Council has also a food bank and 
community fridge which offers free, healthy food. In the future the Parish 
will look to provide healthy recipes as well. It was noted, by Parish 
Council representatives, that the Parish Council and voluntary groups 
could, occasionally, require assistance from the Council. It is anticipated 
that this assistance is in the form of providing knowledge and expertise in 
helping set up groups or activities. 

 

Page 38 of 42



4.2.2 It can be concluded that: 
a) by supporting voluntary organisations, the Parish Council is also 

supporting the ‘well-being’ aspect of health. For example: there is 
a community allotment for people with disabilities and learning 
disabilities; the Welcome Club for residents aged 60 and over and 
the Wellbeing Club which helps residents reduce ailments caused 
through inactivity. 

b) the Parish Council are dedicated to supporting the less fortunate 
through the food bank and community fridge. 

c) the Parish Council are committed to using their facilities for the 
benefit of the village, whether that is generating income or 
supporting the sustainability of voluntary organisations through 
free usage. 

 
4.3.1 Task and Finish Review - In reviewing the objective tests and the aims of 

the Group, it is clear that the review has not looked into all of them. 
 
4.3.2 Objective Tests 
 

 Encouraging lifelong health by a) reducing excess weight in adults: 
The Task and Finish Group has looked into what the Parish 
Councils in Little Paxton and Yaxley are doing to help reduce 
excess weight in adults (e.g. the provision of exercise facilities). 
The Group has also looked into how those Parishes are helping to 
reduce excess weight in children (e.g. provision of play equipment 
and purchasing HDC Officer time in order to provide various 
activities). 

 b) reducing associated health issues (type two diabetes, heart 
disease, cancer, stroke, depression/self-esteem: The Group has 
undertaken site visits which demonstrate communities who have 
been encouraged to undertake physical activity, this in turn which 
reduces the risk of type two diabetes, heart disease and cancer. 
Also through their site visits they have discovered that Yaxley 
Parish Council facilitate the running of voluntary groups who 
contribute to improving people’s mental state and self-esteem 
(e.g. Welcome Club, Community Orchard and Wellbeing Club). 

 
4.3.3 Aims 
  

 Prevent ill health by encouraging residents to lead an active 
lifestyle: Whilst the Task and Finish Group have not themselves 
identified or discussed ways of encouraging residents to lead an 
active lifestyle, they have seen how Little Paxton and Yaxley have 
been encouraging their residents. In addition, the Group has 
received briefing notes on how other areas encourage their 
residents (e.g. Friends of the Rec Newsletter, Suffolk Walking 
Festival and Kettering Health and Well-Being Festival). It was also 
recognised that the Council, through One Leisure, has a part to 
play in encouraging residents to lead an active lifestyle. 

 Identify why some Parishes have healthy and active residents and 
others do not: The Task and Finish Group has looked into what 
Little Paxton and Yaxley are doing to encourage healthy and 

Page 39 of 42



active residents but has not looked into those areas that are not. 
Although it can be surmised why some areas do not (e.g. lack of 
demand, lack of willing volunteers to run activities), the Group has 
not undertaken any evidence gathering to prove why. 

 Identify ways to encourage communities to help themselves: The 
Group has gained sufficient knowledge to be able to identify ways 
to encourage communities to help themselves (e.g. have a long 
term plan, identify a dedicated volunteer/use the Parish Clerk to 
enact the plan). The case of Little Paxton suggests that if the 
facilities are built well then the community will use them. 

 Identify activity levels on a Parish by Parish basis, cross reference 
activities and share best practice: The Group has only looked at 
Little Paxton and Yaxley but Members can identify the best 
practice from each and create a ‘guide’ to assist other 
Parishes/communities to help develop their facilities and activities. 

 
5. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
5.1 Based on the work conducted by the Task and Finish Group and the 

conclusions reached, the following recommendations can be made: 
 

1) In order to encourage Parish Councils to install their own facilities 
a ‘guide’ (based on Little Paxton’s experience) should be 
produced and distributed. It would also be helpful to have a 
discussion slot at the Parish Conference. 

2) That the next Parish Conference has a section which highlights 
experiences of Little Paxton and Yaxley. 

3) The Leisure and Health service should attend community events 
throughout the District in order to promote its health and well-
being offer (One Leisure). In order to do this, the Leisure and 
Health service should continue to regularly liaise with Parish 
Councils and Community Groups, in order to establish what 
events are taking place. 

4) As the Task and Finish Review only ‘scratched the surface’, then 
the Group should remain in place and work on the suggested 
forward programme as shown below. 
 

6. SUGGESTED TASK AND FINISH WORK PROGRAMME 
 
6.1 The Task and Finish Group have created a good foundation to build a 

body of work on. Having undertaken site visits in Huntingdonshire, it 
would be worthwhile to triangulate that with an example or two from 
outside the District. It is therefore proposed to invite a representative of 
Friends of the Rec in to inform Members what they are doing. In addition 
to this it would be useful to review one of the 10 case studies contained 
within the LGA’s ‘Shaping Healthy Places’ paper. 

 
6.2 As the objective test focused on particular health outcomes (reducing 

excess weight in adults, reducing type two diabetes, reducing coronary 
heart disease, reducing cancer, reducing stroke and improving mental 
health) and the Clinical Commissioning Group has overspent this year, it 
is proposed to invite a CCG representative on how the District Council 

Page 40 of 42



can do to impact positively upon the health outcomes listed in the 
objective test. Following which, the Group can have workshops on the 
topics which the Council can make the biggest impact. 

 
6.3 Suggested Timetable 

 September 2019: Agenda setting. Invite Public Health to find out 
where they are going to concentrate their efforts.  

 October 2019: Invite a representative from ‘Friends of Rec’ to 
inform the Group what they do and how successful they are. 

 November 2019: Invite a representative from the Clinical 
Commissioning Group to inform Members on how we can work 
closer to improve resident’s health particularly around the wider 
determinants of health and the prevention agenda. 

 December 2019: Have a workshop on developing…(example: 
better type two diabetes outcomes). 

 January 2020: Have a workshop on developing…(example: better 
Mental Health outcomes). 

 February 2020: Take an in depth look at one of the LGA report 
case studies. 

 March 2020: Review all the evidence gathered and produce some 
recommendations. 

 April 2020: Present final report to O&S and Cabinet. 
 
7. COMMENTS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 

7.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Customers and Partnerships) 
received the Lifelong Health Task and Finish Group – Part One Final 
Report at the meeting on 12th September 2019. 

 
7.2 The Panel supported the recommendations contained within the report 

and recommends that Cabinet endorses them. 
 

8. LINK TO THE CORPORATE PLAN, STRATEGIC PRIORITIES AND/OR 
CORPORATE OBJECTIVES 

 
8.1 The work of the Task and Finish Group supports the strategic priority of 

‘support people to improve their health and well-being’. The Group seeks 
to do this by fulfilling its aims of: 
 

  Prevent ill health by encouraging residents to lead an active 
lifestyle. 

 Identify why some Parishes have healthy and active residents and 
others do not. 

 Identify ways to encourage communities to help themselves. 

 Identify activity levels on a Parish by Parish basis, cross reference 
activities and share best practice. 

 
9. CONSULTATION 
 
9.1 As part of the study process the Members conducted two site visits and 

discussed what assistance Parish Councils required. What was identified 
was that there are individuals in both areas willing to volunteer their time 

Page 41 of 42



to provide facilities and activities for their area but they require 
knowledge and expertise in order to start things off. 

 
10. HEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 It is hoped that through the implementation of the recommendations, 

more Parishes will provide exercise equipment for their residents, 
therefore encouraging residents to become more active and improve 
their health. 
 

10.2 In addition it is hoped that, by attending community events and promoting 
the Council’s health and well-being offer, the health and well-being of 
residents is improved through additional visits to One Leisure. 

 
11. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

 

10.1 The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel (Customers and 
Partnerships) would like to thank participating Members and supporting 
Officers for the time and commitment to the study. In addition, special 
thanks goes to Little Paxton Parish Council and Yaxley Parish Council for 
hosting the Group and participating in the study. 

 

 

CONTACT OFFICER 
 
Name/Job Title: Adam Green, Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny) 
Tel No:   01480 388008 
Email:   Adam.Green@huntingdonshire.gov.uk  

Page 42 of 42

mailto:Adam.Green@huntingdonshire.gov.uk

	Agenda
	1 MINUTES
	Minutes of Previous Meeting

	3 ENGLAND'S ECONOMIC HEARTLANDS - OUTLINE TRANSPORT STRATEGY : FRAMEWORK FOR ENGAGEMENT
	Appendix 1 - Huntingdonshire District Council’s draft Consultation Response to the Outline Transport Strategy Framework for Engagement

	4 FINAL REPORT OF THE ACCELERATING THE DELIVERY OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING TASK AND FINISH GROUP
	5 LIFELONG HEALTH TASK AND FINISH GROUP - PART ONE FINAL REPORT

